ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

MAR 19 2014

Appeal from Georgetown County

SC Court of Appeals

Larry B. Hyman, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

TAMAR BRYANT,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2013-000671

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

DAVID ALEXANDER
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Whether the trial court's refusal to order a mental competency examination was erroneous because it was based on an improper consideration, a mistake of fact, and the State consented to the evaluation?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 18, 2011, a Georgetown grand jury indicted appellant Tamar Bryant for murder. R. _____. Erin E. Bailey represented the State throughout the proceedings in the case. Ronald W. Hazzard represented appellant. On September 21, 2012, a hearing on whether to order a competency evaluation was held before the Honorable Steven H. John. R. ____ (Sept. 12, 2012, Hearing Tr. 1).¹ On December 17, 2012, a hearing on whether to order a competency evaluation was held before the Honorable Benjamin H. Culbertson. R. ____ (Dec. 17, 2012, Hearing Tr. 1).² On March 18-20, 2013, appellant was tried before the Honorable Larry B. Hyman, Jr. Tr. 1. The jury convicted appellant. Tr. 325, ll. 14 – 17. Judge Hyman sentenced appellant to thirty-five years' imprisonment. Tr. 331, ll. 14 – 15. This appeal follows timely filing and service of the notice of appeal.

¹ In this Initial Brief, references to this transcript will be abbreviated to "September Hearing." These abbreviations will be replaced with citations to the Record in the Final Brief and this footnote deleted.

² In this Initial Brief, references to this transcript will be abbreviated to "December Hearing." These abbreviations will be replaced with citations to the Record in the Final Brief and this footnote deleted.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On March 15, 2011, Deon Myers (“Deon”) was shot and killed in a club called the Ghost Den in Plantersville. Tr. 90, l. 3 – 92, l. 16. Despite twenty people being in the club, only three witnesses—all of whom had some bias against appellant—testified for the State. Tr. 90, ll. 23 – 25. The testimony of these witnesses was inconsistent. No forensic evidence linked appellant to the crime. The murder weapon, a rare pistol with a missing handle, was found when the police arrested appellant’s co-defendant, Brandon Cheeks (“Brandon”). Tr. 182, l. 22 – 183, l. 13. By far, the strongest evidence against appellant was a videotaped statement in which he confessed to shooting Deon, which was admitted over appellant’s objection. Tr. 199, ll. 7 – 16. (State’s Ex. 11).

The three witnesses the State managed to find agreed on one fact: the well-known gang member Lavern Holmes (“Lavern”) barged into the club with a shotgun threatening Deon. Tr. 91, ll. 7 – 92, l. 8 (Terell Myers). Tr. 123, ll. 5 – 23 (Shaquettia Holmes). Tr. 152, l. 4 – 153, l. 23 (Cameron Green). Terell Myers (“Terell”) worked at the club and had known Lavern all of his life. Tr. 90, l. 3 – 91, l. 8. Shaquettia Holmes (“Shaquettia”) was Lavern’s neice. Tr. 121, l. 25 – 122, l. 3. Cameron Green (“Cameron”) was Shaquettia’s “distant cousin.” Tr. 122, ll. 4 – 8. Shaquettia said she knew Cameron as a child and that they “grew up together.” Tr. 128, l. 24 – 129, l. 1. When Cameron was asked if he knew Shaquettia, he said “I’m not familiar with that name.”³ Tr. 158, ll. 7 – 11. Terell and Cameron were cousins. Tr. 103, ll. 7 – 10. Terell was also a cousin of a man named Kawaun Myers (“Kawaun”) who was with Lavern that evening. Tr. 102, ll. 22 – 23. Deon was Terell’s brother. Tr. 102, ll. 20 – 21. None of these people are related to appellant.

³ The witnesses were sequestered. Tr. 39, ll. 12 – 18.

Terell testified first. Terell was working the door at the club. Tr. 90, ll. 13 – 15. Approximately twenty people were in the club. Tr. 90, l. 23 – 91, l. 2. Twenty minutes after Deon arrived, Lavern entered brandishing a shotgun. Tr. 90, ll. 16 – 22. Lavern “went straight to Deon.” Tr. 91, ll. 20 – 21. Deon fled to the bathroom. Tr. 91, ll. 20 – 24. Shaquettia got to the bathroom and “stopped everything.” Tr. 91, l. 20 – 92, l. 5. Shaquettia “got Lavern Holmes out the door.” Tr. 110, ll. 7 – 11.

Deon came out of the bathroom. Tr. 92, ll. 12 – 14. When Deon got “midway” through the club, a short man with a red bandana covering his mouth and nose “came straight in and shot him. He came in and shot him, straight, he, he came straight to Deon and shot him.” Tr. 92, ll. 9 – 16. Terell said the short man with a red bandana “did not stop or nothing.” Tr. 113, ll. 13 – 16. He had “a small black gun.” Tr. 92, ll. 17 – 20. Terell did not recognize the short man with the red bandana. Tr. 92, ll. 23 – 25.

Terell claimed he did not see his cousin Cameron in the club that night. Tr. 103, ll. 7 – 15. The night of the shooting, Terell did not give the police any information about what happened. Tr. 115, ll. 16 – 23. The next day, when the police came to his house, Terell did not volunteer any information about the shooting. Tr. 116, ll. 1 – 10.

Shaquettia was the State’s next witness. She was at the bar. Tr. 123, ll. 5 – 13. Cameron had on a red bandana. Tr. 127, ll. 4 – 8. She saw her uncle, Lavern, enter the bar with “a big gun.” Tr. 123, ll. 5 – 13. Lavern had on a red bandana. Tr. 127, ll. 4 – 6. Cameron, also wearing a red bandana, entered the bar with Lavern. Tr. 128, ll. 15 – 23. Tr. 139, ll. 9 – 11. Tr. 127, ll. 4 – 6.

Deon went into the bathroom with Lavern following. Tr. 124, ll. 4 – 7. Deon was behind the door and her uncle was holding it. Tr. 124, ll. 8 – 14. Two girls were also in the

bathroom. Tr. 134, ll. 13 – 16. Shaquettia went into the bathroom and told Lavern “to leave him alone and go.” Tr. 123, ll. 5 – 13. Shaquettia testified that her uncle took her advice and left. Tr. 135, ll. 18 – 24.

Shaquettia said she knew appellant. Tr. 124, l. 25 – 125, l. 7. Shaquettia said that when her uncle left the club, appellant entered the bathroom and started talking to Deon. Tr. 125, ll. 16 – 23. Tr. 135, ll. 14 – 17. The two girls had already left the bathroom. Tr. 135, ll. 14 – 17. She saw appellant with a gun. Tr. 136, ll. 3 – 6. Appellant and Deon appeared to agree that everything was fine. Tr. 136, ll. 10 – 18. Shaquettia said appellant left, followed by Deon. Tr. 136, l. 19 – 137, l. 1. Shaquettia heard a shot, but did not witness the shooting. Tr. 125, ll. 24 – 25. She originally thought her uncle shot Deon. Tr. 138, l. 24 – 139, l. 5. Shaquettia did not remember appellant wearing a bandana. Tr. 126, l. 25 – 127, l. 3. Shaquettia did not give the police a statement the night of the shooting. Tr. 138, ll. 14 – 23.

Cameron was the last of the State’s three witnesses culled from the twenty people in the club. He was charged with Deon’s murder. Tr. 163, ll. 9 – 17. Two weeks before trial, Cameron signed a proffer agreement. Tr. 170, l. 23 – 171, l. 1. Cameron testified that he had not read the proffer agreement, that he “wasn’t being promised anything,” but hoped that he would escape a murder charge. Tr. 171, ll. 2 – 23. Directly contradicting Shaquettia’s testimony that they had grown up together and were related, Cameron denied being even “familiar” with her name. Tr. 158, ll. 7 – 11. Also contradicting Shaquettia,

Cameron denied that he wore a red bandana or had one anywhere on his person that night.⁴
Tr. 159, ll. 10 – 19.

Cameron gave multiple versions of his story to police and then to the jury. He was arrested the day after the shooting and charged with attempted murder. Tr. 159, ll. 20 – 25. In this statement, he told the police that only he and Lavern were in his car that night. Tr. 160, ll. 9 – 11. He told the police he never entered the club. Tr. 160, l. 17 – 19. He told the police Lavern did not have a shotgun. Tr. 161, ll. 3 – 4.

Deon died in the interval between Cameron's first and second statement. Tr. 162, ll. 14 – 18. The police upgraded Cameron's charge to murder. Tr. 163, ll. 9 – 12. Cameron denied that he changed his statement admitting only that he "gave more detail" and he "just wanted to clear [his] name." Tr. 163, ll. 18 – 21. Tr. 172, l. 22 – 173, l. 1. In his second statement, he told police there were four people in the car with him and that Lavern had a shotgun. Tr. 163, l. 22 – 164, l. 5. In this second version, Kawaun, Brandon Cheeks ("Brandon"), and appellant joined Cameron and Lavern in the car. Tr. 153, ll. 7 – 25.

Cameron told his "third story" to the jury. Tr. 167, ll. 17 – 18. In this version, either appellant or Brandon brought the handgun. Tr. 150, ll. 2 – 5. On the way to a party, they stopped at a house in Graves Station. Tr. 150, l. 18 – 151, l. 1. Appellant went into the house and returned with the shotgun. Tr. 151, ll. 10 – 13. After stopping for gas, they went

⁴ Cameron admitted that Lavern wore a red bandana. Tr. 176, ll. 14 – 21. He said appellant had a black bandana. Tr. 178, ll. 17 – 20. The color of the national gang known as the "Bloods" uses red as its identifying color. See <http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Bloods>. In his recorded statement, appellant identified Lavern as a Blood because he "had a red flag." (State's Ex. 11). Appellant also identified Kawaun as a Blood because he often wore red and also thought that Brandon used to be in a gang. (State's Ex. 11). Appellant said he did not associate with Cameron enough to say whether he was in a gang. (State's Ex. 11). Appellant denied he was in a gang or was trying to get into a gang. (State's Ex. 11).

to the club. Tr. 151, ll. 17 – 24. Cameron parked the car and everyone got out except Kawaun. Tr. 152, ll. 4 – 13.

Cameron and Lavern went to the door. Tr. 152, ll. 4 – 13. He did not know where Brandon and appellant were. Tr. 152, ll. 11 – 13. Lavern went in before Cameron. Tr. 152, ll. 4 – 13. Cameron went no further than the door because he did not pay. Tr. 152, ll. 12 – 22. Despite seeing the shotgun in the car, seeing Lavern with the shotgun after leaving the club, and walking to the door with Lavern, Cameron claimed he did not see Lavern with the shotgun when Lavern entered the club. Tr. 169, ll. 7 – 14.

Cameron supposedly stayed outside the club during the shooting. Tr. 153, ll. 2 – 13. He saw appellant and Brandon run from the club with Lavern following. Tr. 153, ll. 14 – 23. Lavern “let off a shot with the shotgun.” Tr. 153, ll. 14 – 23. After they left the club in the car, Lavern supposedly questioned appellant about why he shot Deon, with appellant apologizing and saying “My bad.” Tr. 154, ll. 1 – 7. Cameron dropped everyone but appellant off at a place that was not their residence. App. 154, ll. 14 – 25.

At the time of the shooting, Cameron and Kawaun were in their early twenties. Tr. 166, ll. 5 – 15. Lavern was in his mid-to-late thirties. Tr. 166, ll. 16 – 25. Appellant was only seventeen years old at the time of the shooting and when he gave his statement to police. Tr. 331, ll. 4 – 5. In his statement, appellant said he did not know the origin of the shotgun. (State’s Ex. 11). He said that he, Lavern, Cameron, and Brandon entered the club. (State’s Ex. 11). Lavern and appellant were wearing bandanas, but not any of the others. (State’s Ex. 11). Deon ran into the bathroom when he saw Lavern with the shotgun. (State’s Ex. 11). Appellant took the pistol from Brandon after Deon entered the bathroom. (State’s Ex. 11). Appellant went into the bathroom and talked with Deon about cigarettes

(State's Ex. 11). When they left the bathroom, Deon stopped to look for a gold chain and when Deon looked up, appellant shot him. (State's Ex. 11). No gold chain was entered into evidence.

Officer John Ohler arrested Brandon after a chase. Tr. 182, ll. 1 – 10. Officer Ohler searched Brandon. Tr. 182, ll. 19 – 21. He found a black “do-rag”, a “couple of bags of marijuana,” and the murder weapon. Tr. 182, l. 22 – 183, l. 13. The pistol was a .22 caliber, as was the bullet removed from Deon's head. Tr. 253, ll. 2 – 19. When the police searched Cameron's car after the incident, they found a red bandana and a black “do-rag.” Tr. 223, ll. 13 – 15. Tr. 225, l. 24 – 226, l. 6.

ARGUMENT

The trial court's refusal to order a mental competency examination was erroneous because it was based on an improper consideration, a mistake of fact, and the State consented to the evaluation.

Relevant Facts

Appellant was seventeen years old at the time of the shooting and when he gave his statement to law enforcement. Tr. 331, ll. 4 – 5. On September 21, 2012, defense counsel asked Judge John to order a competency evaluation. September Hearing Tr. 2, l. 13 – 3, l. 9. Defense counsel told the trial court that he had been unable to get appellant to understand that his recorded statement would be used as evidence against him. September Hearing Tr. 2, l. 19 – 3, l. 9. Appellant continued to insist there was “no evidence against him.” September Hearing Tr. 2, l. 19 – 3, l. 9. Defense counsel described his continued insistence that there was no evidence against him as “a wall.” September Hearing Tr. 4, ll. 12 – 18. Appellant's family told defense counsel they agreed an evaluation was needed, but would not provide defense counsel with specifics or “say why.” September Hearing Tr. 3, ll. 14 – 21. After asking appellant nine questions, Judge John found no need to order a mental evaluation. September Hearing Tr. 4, l. 24 – 7, l. 2.

On December 17, 2012, defense counsel raised the issue of appellant's competency again before Judge Culbertson. December Hearing Tr. 3, l. 25 – 4, l. 13. Defense counsel told Judge Culbertson that he was having trouble communicating with appellant about his defense. December Hearing Tr. 4, l. 7 – 6, l. 19. Appellant did not appear to understand the severity of the situation and the potential impact of a videotaped confession on his chances at trial. December Hearing Tr. 4, l. 7 – 6, l. 19. Defense counsel said that in his twenty

years of experience, he had never seen a defendant unable to grasp this problem and refuse to explore a plea. December Hearing Tr. 4, l. 7 – 6, l. 19. Defense counsel indicated that there were “certain things about his past history, certain experience that he, that he has experienced as a child, that he’s not very forthcoming. . . .” December Hearing Tr. 4, l. 7 – 6, l. 19. Defense counsel also stated he had reviewed appellant’s school records and said, “I do not know if I’ve ever seen that many Fs in my life, unfortunately.” December Hearing Tr. 6, ll. 4 – 10.

Judge Culbertson questioned appellant. Appellant first denied having any mental health issues, but then indicated he had been to the local mental health office for help with paying attention in school. December Hearing Tr. 8, l. 20 – 9, 9. After more questioning, to which appellant provided superficially appropriate answers, Judge Culbertson denied the motion for evaluation. December Hearing Tr. 10, ll. 9 – 14. Judge Culbertson stated that the motion for a competency evaluation was “just a ploy” to delay the trial. December Hearing Tr. 11, ll. 11 – 17.

Argument continued during which the solicitor stated she consented to having appellant evaluated. December Hearing Tr. 12, ll. 2 – 9. The State told the court that she “had concerns about his competency” and these concerns were the reason she had not called the case for trial during that term. December Hearing Tr. 10, ll. 22 – 25. The solicitor also told the judge that defense counsel was “a very accomplished attorney” and that she took his concerns about appellant’s competency seriously because she did not “want to try this thing twice.” December Hearing Tr. 12, ll. 2 – 9.

Defense counsel then informed Judge Culbertson of the prior hearing before Judge John and that after that hearing, he had learned that appellant’s father had committed “a

crime of extreme violence against his mother in his presence.” December Hearing Tr. 13, l. 3 – 14, l. 2. Appellant’s father received a twenty-eight year prison sentence. December Hearing Tr. 13, l. 3 – 14, l. 2. Judge Culbertson then expressed his frustrations with both attorneys for the delay in trying the case and then ruled that he “agree[d] with Judge John” and did not “see the need for a mental evaluation.” December Hearing Tr. 14, l. 3 – 16, l. 5.

Immediately before trial, Appellant renewed his request for an evaluation before Judge Hyman. Tr. 37, l. 17 – 38, l. 3. Defense counsel dutifully informed Judge Hyman of the prior rulings by Judge John and Judge Culbertson. Tr. 37, l. 17 – 38, l. 3. Judge Hyman asked if anything had changed since the prior hearings and defense counsel responded that was unaware of any changes. Tr. 38, ll. 4 – 15.

At the pre-trial hearing. Appellant’s medical records were made a court’s exhibit. (Court’s Ex. 3). Judge Hyman stated he had “looked through” the records. Tr. 38, l. 23 – 39, l. 1. He asked if the records were made available to Judge John and Judge Culbertson. Tr. 38, l. 23 – 39, l. 1. Defense counsel answered affirmatively. Tr. 39, l. 2. Despite defense counsel’s answer, the records were not made an exhibit at either the September or December hearings. Neither Judge John nor Judge Culbertson stated they had reviewed any medical records.

The State did not oppose the motion at the hearing. Judge Hyman denied the motion for an evaluation, stating:

Okay, and I note that, you know, it would appear that he’s had some drug and alcohol abuse in the past. I don’t know what the extent of that was, and that he seems to be a very angry young man, **but I see no diagnosis of mental health problems.** I just don’t see whether, where he has anything that would or there’s anything here that would cause me to rule other than as was ruled on that issue by Judge Culbertson and Judge John, and I would respectfully deny a motion for an evaluation.

Tr. 39, ll. 3 – 11 (emphasis added).

Discussion

The trial judges in this case had “reason to believe” that appellant lacked “the capacity to understand the proceedings against him or assist in his own defense.” S.C. Code Ann. § 44-23-410(A). When a trial judge has reason to question a defendant’s capacity, “a competency evaluation is compulsory.” State v. Colden, 372 S.C. 428, 441, 641 S.E.2d 912, 920 (Ct. App. 2007). See also State v. Blair, 275 S.C. 529, 533, 273 S.E.2d 536, 538 (1981). The conviction of a mentally incompetent person violates due process. Pate v. Robinson, 383 U.S. 375, 378-79 (1966). See also U.S. Const. amends. V, XIV.

The “reason to believe” an evaluation is needed can come from evidence of past and current mental problems and proffer of counsel. See State v. Singleton, 322 S.C. 480, 482-84, 472 S.E.2d 640, 641-42 (Ct. App. 1996). In Singleton, this Court reversed because the trial judge abused his discretion in refusing to order an evaluation. Id. Defense counsel told the court that the defendant heard voices and had hallucinations. Id. The attorney suspected the defendant’s behavior stemmed from a poisoning incident in his childhood. Id. The defendant was receiving mental health treatment at the time of the hearing. Id.

In this case, not only defense counsel, but the solicitor asked the court to order an evaluation. December Hearing Tr. 12, ll. 2 – 9. Defense counsel told the trial judge that he was unable to make appellant understand the impact that his videotaped confession would have on his chances of success at trial. December Hearing Tr. 4, l. 7 – 6, l. 19. He also told the court of appellant’s extraordinarily poor school record and a violent incident in his childhood. December Hearing Tr. 6, ll. 4 – 10. December Hearing Tr. 13, l. 3 – 14, l. 2. Indeed, as a viewing of appellant’s videotaped statement reveals, appellant does not seem to

understand the impact of his words. (State's Exhibit 11). Judge Hyman described the seventeen-year old appellant as "nonchalant" in giving the statement. Tr. 31, ll. 1 – 2. Near the end of the video, appellant asks the officer, "So this is the statement already right here?" (State's Ex. 11 at approximately 30:45-31:00). This question, given after thirty minutes of interrogation by the officer who explained several times that this was the appellant's statement and long after supposedly recounting the events of the incident, betrays an almost childlike misunderstanding by appellant of what was happening to him.

In Singleton, the trial judge denied the motion for an evaluation "without explanation." Singleton at 482, 472 S.E.2d at 641. In this case, the trial judge's explanation appears to show that the denial was, in part, based on an improper consideration. Judge Culbertson was clearly upset about the age of the case and thought that the motion was meant to delay the case. The trial judge called the motion a "ploy." December Hearing Tr. 11, ll. 11 – 17. This concern, while certainly valid when administering the court's trial docket, should not play a role in the decision of whether to order an evaluation. The sole focus should be on whether there is any reason to believe that the defendant is incompetent. The suspicion of delay may be present in many cases where a defendant requests an evaluation, but this concern should not allow a trial judge to substitute his judgment as to competency when section 44-23-410 requires evaluation by medical professionals.

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