ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Georgetown County

Larry B. Hyman, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

TAMAR BRYANT,

APPELLANT,

Appellate Case No. 2013-000671.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JOHN W. McINTOSH
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

KAYCIE S. TIMMONS
Assistant Attorney General
SC Bar No. 100237

South Carolina Office of Attorney General
P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-0265

JIMMY A. RICHARDSON
Solicitor, Fifteenth Circuit
Post Office Drawer 1276
Conway, SC 29526
(843) 915-5460

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

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

ARGUMENT

The trial court did not err in denying Appellant's motion for the court to order a mental competency examination.

Introduction

Respondent submits that the trial court did not err in denying Appellant's motion to have an evaluation of Appellant's competency where three different circuit court judges found there was no need for an evaluation based on the information presented by Appellant.

How the Issue Was Raised at Trial

September Hearing

At the hearing before Judge John, defense counsel stated, "The biggest issue that we have is that anytime I represent someone charged with the ultimate crime, which carries almost the ultimate sanction, I'm very concerned and mindful regarding their mental state, and that that be determined before the Court." (R. p. 323, lines 14–18). Defense counsel then explained that he could not get Appellant to "grasp the concept that an inculpatory statement that is made without any apparent pressure or coercion whatsoever, that that is evidence" (R. p. 323, line 23–p. 324, line 1). Defense counsel further indicated that he did not know if Appellant was just in denial or if he was actually incapable of understanding that idea, but he wanted the trial court to make a determination as to whether Appellant needed an evaluation. (R. p. 324, lines 3–9).

According to defense counsel, Appellant's family agreed with the evaluation, and they indicated that Appellant "had a tough upbringing," but defense counsel had no specifics to offer the court on Appellant's upbringing. (R. p. 324, lines 10–21). Defense counsel further told the court that he had no information that Appellant was ever a special needs student. (R. p. 325, lines 4–10).

Judge John then questioned Appellant about his understanding of the roles of defense counsel, counsel for the State, the judge, and the jury. (R. p. 325, line 20–p. 326, line 9). Judge John also questioned Appellant about his understanding of the evidence and of his potential defense in the case. (R. p. 326, line 10–p. 327, line 12). The court then made its ruling:

Mr. Hazzard, I appreciate the concern that you have, and I understand your concern, I can't see any reason at this point in time to order an evaluation. If the—you know, if—and again, communicating with the family members, understanding the Court's position, you tell them there has to be some specific information as, has there ever been any kind of evaluation done in the past, or hospitalization or something—

.....

—But based upon the information that has been presented, my questioning of the Defendant, and what I've heard so far I just don't see any reason or rationale to order an evaluation in this particular matter.

(R. p. 327, line 14–p. 328, line 1).

For the remainder of the hearing, the court addressed the issue of setting bond, which Appellant had reminded defense counsel of at their meeting that morning. (R. p. 328, line 4–p. 330, line 21).

December Hearing

The court held a hearing on December 17, 2012, to address Appellant's motions for the court to set a bond and for an evaluation as to competency and criminal responsibility. (R. p. 298, lines 2–15). Defense counsel told Judge Culbertson the following:

Your Honor, Mr. Bryant is a very easy person to talk to, there's no question about that. The time we spend together is very enjoyable. The issue I'm having is that in the 20 some odd years that I've been practicing law and doing cases that carry 30 to life I've never had a client with a taped confession to a murder who does not appear to grasp the severity of the situation

[F]or instance, he has not—he, he does not allow the, the possibility of any plea offer and I understand that obviously he has the absolute right to a jury trial and that's what I am here for and I've got no problem with doing that. I do not

believe I've ever seen a situation where a client has been charged with the crime of murder with a confession on the record who did not even want to explore the possibility of what plea offer might be out there. That's one instance of it. Another thing is I don't know if Mr. Bryant does not trust me, and again, I do not categorize him as hostile because he is not, we get along great. There are just certain things about his past history, certain experiences that he, that he has experienced as a child that he's not very forthcoming as far as his personal history with me. He says that those things really do not matter in the grand scheme of trial preparation [I]t's been very difficult and is very difficult to get from him the information I need that will help me to best represent him and I can't figure out why that is.

(R. p. 299, line 7–p. 5, line 16).

The court asked why defense counsel had waited from the time of Appellant's arrest in March 2011 until the hearing to raise this issue, and defense counsel explained that he had brought the issue up at an earlier hearing, but he had since gotten Appellant's school records, which indicated that Appellant had been held back on multiple occasions and that he had personal trauma as a child. (R. p. 300, line 17–p. 301, line 19). Defense counsel stated,

I think he's actually a very bright young man, very bright, but really he's an enigma to me, Judge, simple as that, and based on the nature of these charges, if we were talking about a shoplifting I wouldn't have any problem in the world with saying, "Yeah, I'm sure he's ok, we can go forward," but my job in protecting his interest is to bring any issues I have before the Court for the Court's consideration and that's simply what I'm doing.

(R. p. 301, lines 12–19).

Judge Culbertson then questioned Appellant about his understanding of what was going on with his case and about his interaction with defense counsel. (R. p. 301, line 20–p. 303, line 19). Judge Culbertson also asked Appellant about his mental health history, and Appellant told the court that he had been prescribed Adderall and Ritalin when he was thirteen or fourteen years old to help him pay attention in school. (R. p. 303, line 20–p. 304, line 9). However, Appellant also told the court that he was no longer on the medication and that he did not have any trouble paying attention now. (R. p. 304, lines 15–19).

Judge Culbertson then ruled as follows:

[O]n your motion for evaluation I'm going to deny that. There's nothing in the responses by Mr. Bryant that shows or indicates to me that he does not understand the charges against him and is unable to assist in his defense. So I'm going to deny the motion for an evaluation.

(R. p. 305, lines 9–14).

Judge Culbertson then moved on to the issue of bond reduction, asking the State what reason it had for the delay in calling Appellant's case to trial. (R. p. 305, lines 15–18). Counsel for the State explained that the case had five co-defendants, which made it extremely complicated, and counsel further stated that she had concerns about Appellant's competency and wanted him to be heard on that issue. (R. p. 305, lines 19–25). Counsel for the State further informed the court that defense counsel had indicated that he had concerns about Appellant's competency based on new information, and she "didn't want to call the case without proper consideration." (R. p. 306, lines 5–10). The court pointed out that Appellant had been sitting in jail awaiting trial since March 2011, further stating, "I think this competency is just a ploy to kind of put it off." (R. p. 306, lines 11–17). Judge Culbertson clarified that he didn't think it was a ploy by the defense, however. (R. p. 306, lines 21–p. 307, line 1).

In response, counsel for the State indicated that she had consistently consented to the evaluation. (R. p. 307, lines 3–9). Defense counsel then informed the court about what occurred at the earlier hearing with Judge John and what defense counsel had since learned about Appellant's past. (R. p. 308, line 3–p. 309, line 2). Judge Culbertson again expressed his dissatisfaction with the fact that Appellant's case had not yet gone to trial and further stated, "I agree with Judge John. I don't see the need for a mental evaluation." (R. p. 309, line 3–p. 311, line 5). The court then heard the remaining arguments on the bond reduction issue and

eventually granted Appellant's motion and set Appellant's bond at \$75,000. (R. p. 311, line 7–p. 320, line 8).

Pretrial Hearing

The first matter addressed at the pretrial hearing was the State's motion to introduce Appellant's videotaped statement. (R. p. 6, line 2–p. 31, line 25). The State presented the testimony of Investigator Busbee and Appellant's videotaped statement to law enforcement. (R. p. 6, lines 15–p. 23, line 5; Court's Ex. 2). Defense counsel, on the other hand, informed the trial court that Appellant did not wish to present evidence or to testify in the *Jackson v. Denno* hearing, and defense counsel asked the trial court to confirm that with Appellant. (R. p. 24, lines 4–13).

The trial court then questioned Appellant about his decision not to testify, and Appellant affirmed that he understood that he could testify at the pretrial hearing but that he did not wish to. (R. p. 24, line 14–p. 25, line 5). Defense counsel then argued that certain factors went against the State's position that the statement was voluntary. (R. p. 25, line 6–p. 30, line 7). In particular, defense counsel told the trial court about Appellant's educational struggles and traumatic childhood experience of witnessing his father beat his mother, "almost beating her to death." (R. p. 25, line 12–p. 26, line 20). Defense counsel also presented the trial court with Appellant's mental health records. (R. p. 26, lines 5–8; R. p. 334).

The trial court specifically asked defense counsel if Appellant "suffer[ed] from any diagnosed mental illness"—to which defense counsel responded, "Nothing that would prohibit him from being able to understand what is going on here today." (R. p. 26, lines 21–24). Defense counsel then summarized and quoted from the findings in the mental health records as follows:

[H]e's been referred for clinical assessments on several occasions, was not placed on medication, but basically their position on him is that he's just a young man who has, let's see, for instance they indicate he needs attitude, ability to follow the rules and regulations, things of that nature. He's a 16—at this time, he was a 16 year old that just came back from DJJ due to his behavior with credit card fraud and theft. He was living with his mother and sister. He is very rude and defiant young man that wants to go his way. He doesn't respond well to people that he feels asks so much questions and he will ignore others. His father is currently incarcerated; his mother thinks that is why Tamar is having behavior problems. Mother seems to be a little afraid to control him and says very little to him about things when he is wrong. The things about it is from all that I have seen, prior to that incident he was a very pleasant, well-adjusted young man and ever since that incident, as they indicate, he has been defiant, truculent, hard to get along with and subject to saying and doing things that are very impulsive. Whether they are true or not he'll say them, and I simply bring this to the Court's attention and want to make them part of the record.

(R. p. 27, lines 2–23; R. p. 334).

The trial court noted that Appellant seemed to understand and appropriately answer all of the questions posed to him regarding whether he wanted to testify in the *Jackson v. Denno* hearing and commented, “I think that's quite remarkable under the circumstances for a 17 year old.” (R. p. 27, line 24–p. 28, line 6). Judge Hyman asked if an intellectual assessment had ever been done. (R. p. 28, lines 6–7). Defense counsel responded that he had not received one but that Appellant's grades “were not the best” though “[w]hether that is from a lack of knowledge or a lack of effort [he] obviously [could not] say.” (R. p. 28, lines 8–12).

The trial court ultimately found that the State had met its burden to show that Appellant's statement was made knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily. (R. p. 30, line 8–p. 31, line 25). The trial court based his finding on a number of factors, including “that this Defendant was very, very comfortable in giving this statement or he appeared to be comfortable. In fact, he appeared to be almost nonchalant in, in giving this statement.” (R. p. 30, line 24–p. 31, line 2). The trial court further noted that though Appellant had not completed his formal education, he was “very street wise” and “very much in tune with the system.” (R. p. 31, lines 3–6). Additionally,

Appellant seemed to understand his Miranda warning and the questions posed to him during his interview based on his own responses. (R. p. 31, lines 9–15).

The trial court then moved on to other pretrial matters. (R. p. 32, lines 1–9). Shortly thereafter, defense counsel informed Judge Hyman of the previous motions for mental evaluations before Judge John and Judge Culbertson and renewed his motion before Judge Hyman. (R. p. 37, line 17–p. 38, line 3). Judge Hyman asked if there had been any change in circumstances since those previous motions. (R. p. 38, lines 4–8). Defense counsel answered, “Not that I am aware of” (R. p. 38, line 9). The trial court then denied the motion, noting

it would appear that he’s had some drug and alcohol or drug or alcohol abuse in the past. I don’t know what the extent of that was, and that he seems to be a very angry young man, but I see no diagnosis of mental health problems. I just don’t see whether, where he has anything that would or there’s anything here that would cause me to rule other than as was ruled on that issue by Judge Culbertson and Judge John, and I would respectfully deny a motion for an evaluation.

(R. p. 39, lines 3–11).

Standard of Review

The ordering of a competency examination is within the discretion of the trial judge. *State v. Drayton*, 270 S.C. 582, 584, 243 S.E.2d 458, 459 (1978); *State v. Singleton*, 322 S.C. 480, 483, 472 S.E.2d 640, 642 (Ct. App. 1996). The refusal to grant such an examination will not be disturbed on appeal absent a clear showing of an abuse of that discretion. *Drayton*, 270 S.C. at 584, 243 S.E.2d at 459; *State v. Buchanan*, 302 S.C. 83, 85, 394 S.E.2d 1, 2 (Ct. App. 1990). “This is so, because the determination of whether there is ‘reason to believe’ a defendant lacks a certain mental capacity necessarily requires the exercise of discretion.” *State v. White*, 364 S.C. 143, 147–48, 611 S.E.2d 927, 929 (Ct. App. 2005) (citing and quoting *State v. Bradshaw*, 269 S.C. 642, 644, 239 S.E.2d 652, 653 (1977)).

An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law. *State v. Irick*, 344 S.C. 460, 464, 545 S.E.2d 282, 284 (2001); *State v. Funderburk*, 367 S.C. 236, 239, 625 S.E.2d 248, 249–50 (Ct. App. 2006). If there is any evidence to support the trial judge’s decision, the appellate courts will affirm it. *State v. Wilson*, 345 S.C. 1, 7, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001); *State v. Taylor*, 360 S.C. 18, 598 S.E.2d 735 (Ct. App. 2004). Even without any evidentiary support, “[i]n order for an

error to warrant reversal, the error must result in prejudice to the appellant.” *State v. Preslar*, 364 S.C. 466, 473, 613 S.E.2d 381, 385 (Ct. App. 2005); *see also State v. Beck*, 342 S.C. 129, 536 S.E.2d 679 (2000); *State v. Wyatt*, 317 S.C. 370, 453 S.E.2d 890 (1995) (error without prejudice does not warrant reversal).

State v. Colden, 372 S.C. 428, 435–36, 641 S.E.2d 912, 916–17 (Ct. App. 2007).

Analysis

S.C. Code Ann. § 44-23-410 requires a circuit court judge to order a mental examination if the judge “has reason to believe that a person on trial before him . . . is not fit to stand trial because the person lacks the capacity to understand the proceedings against him or to assist in his own defense as a result of a lack of mental capacity.” This Court has

identified three factors to be considered in determining whether further inquiry into a defendant’s fitness to stand trial was warranted. These are: (1) evidence of irrational behavior; (2) demeanor at trial; and (3) prior medical opinion regarding ability to stand trial. In some instances, the presence of just one of the factors may justify further inquiry requiring a mental evaluation.

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